
INSPECTION RECORD 
 
 
Region:  III Inspection Report No. 2018001 License No. 13-35179-03 
  Docket No. 030-38903 
 
Licensee: Zevacor Molecular 
  14395 Bergen Boulevard 

Noblesville, IN 46060 
 
Locations Inspected:  Same as above 
 
Licensee Contact:  Matthew Trusner, RSO  Telephone No. 866-364-4478 
 
Program Code:  03210 Priority:  2 
 
Type of Inspection: (  ) Initial (X) Routine (  ) Announced 
 (  ) Special  (  ) Unannounced 
 
Last Inspection Date:  10/26/16 Date of This Inspection:  10/22/18, with in office review 

through 12/04/18 
 
Next Inspection Date:  10/22/20 (X) Normal (  ) Reduced 
 
Summary of Findings and Actions: 
 

(  ) No violations cited, clear U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) Form 591 or 
regional letter issued 

(  ) Non-cited violations (NCVs) 
(  ) Violation(s), Form 591 issued 
(X) Violation(s), regional letter issued 
(  ) Follow-up on previous violations 

 
 
Inspector: Jason Draper, Health Physicist 

 
 /RA/   Date   12/14/2018  

  Signature 
 
Approved: Aaron T. McCraw, Chief, MIB    
 

 /RA/   Date   12/14/2018  
  Signature 
  



PART I – LICENSE, INSPECTION, INCIDENT/EVENT AND ENFORCEMENT HISTORY 
 
1. AMENDMENTS AND PROGRAM CHANGES SINCE LAST INSPECTION: 

 
AMENDMENT # DATE SUBJECT 
 
2 08/22/2018 Added hot cells and changed Radiation Safety 

Officer (RSO) 
 
1 01/17/2017 Add Sr-83 isotope and Ge-68 sealed source 

 
2. INSPECTION AND ENFORCEMENT HISTORY: 

 
The last inspection of this licensee was the initial inspection on October 27, 2016.  No 
violations of NRC requirements were identified. 

 
3. INCIDENT/EVENT HISTORY: 

 
No open items or events since the last routine inspection. 

 
 
PART II – INSPECTION DOCUMENTATION 
 
1. ORGANIZATION AND SCOPE OF PROGRAM: 
 

Zevacor Molecular is a cyclotron operator authorized under NRC Materials License  
No. 13-35179-03 to produce, possess, or handle radiochemicals and sealed sources for 
transfer to other licensees and to package and distribute the produced radiochemicals 
and sealed sources to other licensees.  Licensed activities are authorized to occur at the 
licensee’s facility in Noblesville, Indiana.  The licensee routinely produces strontium-82 
to be used in strontium-rubidium generators, as well as occasional test batches of 
germanium-68 and zinc-62 for research and testing purposes. 
 
The licensee employed approximately 28 individuals, 21 of whom were monitored with 
dosimetry.  The licensee produced licensed material in a 70-MeV cyclotron with six 
target vaults.  At the time of the inspection, only two of the vaults were being used for 
routine strontium-82 production.  Of the other four target vaults, two were under 
construction, and two were used for waste storage.  Each run of strontium-82 production 
took approximately two weeks of cyclotron operation. 
 
The licensee also possesses another NRC Materials License No. 13-35179-02, which 
authorizes the licensee to perform research and development activities in the pre-
production of radiopharmaceuticals.  The activities performed under this license were not 
due for inspection at the time of the cyclotron-produced material inspection and were not 
inspected. 

 
  



2. SCOPE OF INSPECTION:  
 
Inspection Procedure(s) Used:  87126 
 
Focus Areas Evaluated:  All 
 
The inspector toured the licensee’s main office, including the cyclotron room, one of the 
target vaults that was under construction, and the quality control laboratory to evaluate 
the licensee’s measures for material security, shielding and exposure control, waste 
storage, and hazards that could impact radiological safety. 
 
Through observation and interviews with the RSO, two cyclotron engineers, and two 
production chemists, the inspector determined that the licensee’s staff was 
knowledgeable and conscientious of radiation protection principles, including 
contamination control practices and licensee procedures for storage and handling of 
licensed material. 
 
The inspector reviewed a selection of licensee records for inventories, leak tests, 
surveys and wipe tests, dosimetry, occupational dose event evaluations, waste logs, 
effluent monitoring, and audits.  The inspector also reviewed the licensee’s training 
materials and procedures associated with surveys and wipe tests. 
 
After the on-site inspection, the inspector performed further in-office review of survey 
and wipe test records that were not available at the time of the onsite inspection. 
 

3. INDEPENDENT AND CONFIRMATORY MEASUREMENTS: 
 
Using a Ludlum 2403 survey meter (SN 304934) with a model 44-9 GM detector  
(SN 345335) calibrated on January 26, 2018, as well as a RadEye G survey meter  
(SN 30336) calibrated on July 30, 3018, the inspector conducted independent surveys at 
the licensee’s location.  The inspector found no readings that would indicate residual 
contamination or exposures to members of the public in excess of regulatory limits; 
however, the inspector did identify a high radiation area within the licensee’s restricted 
area (in the quality control laboratory) for which the licensee did not have appropriate 
postings or controls in place (discussed further in Section 4). 

 
4. VIOLATIONS, NCVs, AND OTHER SAFETY ISSUES: 

 
On October 22, 2018, the inspector identified three Severity Level IV violations NRC 
requirements.  The first was a violation of 10 CFR 20.1501(a) for the licensee’s failure to 
take surveys that are necessary to comply with the regulation in Part 20.  Specifically, 
the inspector identified through independent radiation surveys that a high radiation area 
existed in the vicinity of the “bio-safety cabinet,” a waste storage cabinet in the quality 
control laboratory, and that the licensee had not performed radiation surveys of that  
area to identify the high radiation area.  This resulted in two more violations of  
10 CFR 20.1902(b) and 10 CFR 20.1601(a) for the licensee’s failure to post and control 
access to a high radiation area in accordance with the regulations.  Specifically, as a 
result of the licensee not identifying the high radiation area, they neither had the area 
posted as a high radiation area, nor had access controls in place that met the regulatory 
requirements. 
 



While the inspector was performing independent surveys of the licensee’s quality control 
laboratory, the inspector identified elevated dose rates outside the “bio-safety cabinet” 
where the licensee stored their strontium-82 quality control waste for decay-in-storage.  
The quality control laboratory was within the licensee’s restricted area which is posted as 
a radiation area to which only monitored radiation workers have unescorted access.  The 
cabinet appeared to be designed with leaded walls and doors that effectively shielded 
the radiation; however, the leaded doors did not provide full coverage of the front of the 
cabinet and left a gap of approximately a foot between the door and the wall of the 
cabinet.  The inspector measured the dose rate at the gap approximately 30 cm from the 
material inside the cabinet and measured a dose rate of 500 mrem/hr.  At approximately 
30 cm outside the gap, the inspector measured a dose rate of 200 mrem/hr.  After the 
inspector’s surveys, the RSO performed a survey of the same area with similar dose rate 
measurements. 
 
The inspector discussed the requirements for high radiation areas with the RSO, 
specifically, that high radiation areas need to be posted as such, as required by 
20.1902(b), and that controls need to be in place that either automatically drop dose 
rates upon entry into the area or positively control access to the area such that each 
individual entry is monitored and/or controlled, as required by 20.1601(a).  The inspector 
verified through dosimetry records review that no radiation worker with access to that 
area has exceeded the occupations dose limits. 
 
The inspector determined that the root cause of the violations was inadequate training 
and procedures available to the licensee staff regarding the purpose and proper 
practices of performing surveys.  To restore compliance, the RSO indicated that he had 
posted the area as a high radiation area and took actions to consolidate radioactive 
material and reposition shielding to reduce radiation levels in accessible areas as well as 
remove material that contributed to the high radiation levels.  During the exit meeting, 
the RSO indicated that he was developing corrective actions to prevent recurrence, 
including revising the survey procedure and providing additional training to licensee staff 
regarding survey practices. 

 
5. PERSONNEL CONTACTED: 

 
# Mathew Trusner, RSO 
 
#  Attended exit meeting on November 6, 2018 and re-exit meeting on  
          December 4, 2018. 

 
 

-END- 


